## **HANDBOOK**

# Rights for Individuals In Mental Health Facilities

Admitted Under the Lanterman-Petris-Short Act





**California Department of Health Care Services** 

#### LANGUAGE ASSISTANCE

#### **English**

ATTENTION: If you speak another language, language assistance services, free of charge, are available to you. Call 888-452-8609

ATTENTION: Auxiliary aids and services, including but not limited to large print documents and alternative formats, are available to you free of charge upon request. Call 888-452-8609

#### Español (Spanish)

ATENCIÓN: Si habla español, tiene a su disposición servicios gratuitos de asistencia lingüística. Llame al 888-452-8609

#### Tiếng Việt (Vietnamese)

CHU Y: Nếu bạn nói Tiếng Việt, có các dịch vụ hỗ trợ ngôn ngữ miễn phí dành cho ban. Goi số 888-452-8609

#### Tagalog (Tagalog – Filipino)

PAUNAWA: Kung nagsasalita ka ng Tagalog, maaari kang gumamit ng mga serbisyo ng tulong sa wika nang walang bayad. Tumawag sa 888-452-8609

#### 한국어 (Korean)

주의: 한국어를 사용하시는 경우, 언어 지원 서비스를 무료로 이용하실 수 있습니다. 888-452-8609 번으로 전화해 주십시오.

### 繁體中文(Chinese)

注意:如果您使用繁體中文,您可以免費獲得語言援助服務。請致電 888-452-8609

### <u> Յալերեն (Armenian)</u>

ՈՐՇԱԴՐՈՐԹՅՈՐՆ` Եթե խոսում եք հայերեն, ապա ձեզ անվճար կարող են տրամադրվել լեզվական աջակցությանծառայություններ։ Ձանգահարեք 888-452-8609

#### Русский (Russian)

ВНИМАНИЕ: Если вы говорите на русском языке, то вам доступны бесплатные услуги перевода. Звоните 888-452-8609

### (Farsi) فارسى

توجه: اگر به زبان فارسی گفتگو می کنید، تسهیلات زبانی بصورت رایگان برای شما 888-452-8609 تماس بگیرید.

#### 日本語 (Japanese)

注意事項:日本語を話される場合、無料の言語支援をご利用いただけます。 888-452-8609まで、お電話にてご連絡ください。

#### Hmoob (Hmong)

LUS CEĒV: Yog tias koj hais lus Hmoob, cov kev pab txog lus, muaj kev pab dawb rau koj. Hu rau 888-452-8609

#### ਪੰਜਾਬੀ (Punjabi)

ਧਿਆਨ ਦਿਓ: ਜੇ ਤੁਸੀਂ ਪੰਜਾਬੀ ਬੋਲਦੇ ਹੋ, ਤਾਂ ਭਾਸ਼ਾ ਵਿੱਚ ਸਹਾਇਤਾ ਸੇਵਾ ਤੁਹਾਡੇ ਲਈ ਮੁਫਤ ਉਪਲਬਧ ਹੈ। 888-452-8609 '3q£E ਕਰੋ।

#### (Arabic) العربية

ملحوظة؛ إذا كنت تتحدث اذكر اللغة، فإن خدمات المساعدة اللغوية تتوافر لك بالمجان. اتصل برقم 8609-452-888

### हिंदी (Hindi)

ध्यान दें: यदि आप हिंदी बोलते हैं तो आपके लिए मुफ्त में भाषा सहायता सेवाएं उपलब्ध हैं। 888-452-8609

#### ภาษาไทย (Thai)

เรียน: ถ้าคุณพูดภาษาไทยคุณสามารถใช้บริการช่วยเหลือทางภาษาได้ฟรี โทร 888-452-8609

### প্রে (Cambodian)

ប្រយ័ត្នររស៊េិនជាអ្នកនិយាយភាសាខ្លែ, រ សាវង្គំ នយមននកភាសា រោយមិនគិត្្ ្លួន គីអាចមានសំរា ់ ំររ អុ៊េី នក។ ចូ ទូ ស័ព្ទ 888-452-8609

#### <u>ພາສາລາວ (Lao)</u>

ໂປດຊາບ: ຖ້າວ່າ ທ່ານເວົ້າພາສາ ລາວ, ການບໍລິການຊ່ວຍເຫຼືອດ້ານພາສາ, ໂດຍບໍ່ເສັງຄ່າ, ແມ່ນມີພ້ອມໃຫ້ທ່ານ. ໂທຣ 888-452-8609

## Your Rights as a Patient

If you have any questions or would like to make a complaint about a possible violation of your rights, please call the advocacy office listed on the back cover of this handbook.

Patients' rights law is composed of a complex and evolving system of statutes, regulations, and court decisions. This handbook should be considered a guide, but it may not accurately reflect all the rights available to persons at all times.

The person in charge of the facility in which you are receiving treatment is responsible for ensuring that all your rights in this handbook are protected. You should be informed of your rights in a language and a manner that you can understand:

- On admission to a facility
- When there is a change in your legal status
- When you are transferred to another unit or facility
- At least once a year

Please contact your patients' rights advocate if you believe that your rights may have been denied or violated, or if you have questions that may not be specifically addressed in this handbook.

## **Table of Contents**

$Pa_{i}$	ge
Your Rights as a Patient	4
Introduction	6
Access to the Patients' Rights Advocate	7
What to Do If You Have a Complaint	8
Rights While You Are Involuntarily Detained	9
Confidentiality 1	5
Medical Treatment	5
Right to Refuse Treatment 1	6
Medications and the Informed Consent Process 1	8
Capacity Hearing for Medications	0
Rights That Cannot be Denied	1
The Right to Humane Care	21
The Right to be Free from Abuse or Neglect 22	2
The Right to Social Activities and Recreation 22	2
The Right to Education	3
The Right to Religious Freedom and Practice 23	3
The Right to be Free from Discrimination 24	4
Rights That May be Denied with Good Cause 25	5
Clothing	5
Money	5
Visitors	5
Storage Space	6
Personal Possessions	
Telephone	6
Mail	7
Writing Materials	7
Good Cause	8
Definitions	9

## Introduction

If you are receiving voluntary or involuntary mental health services in one of the facilities listed below, you have the rights outlined in this handbook. Your rights may vary depending on your legal status or the type of facility you reside in. *Your rights may not be waived by your parent, guardian, or conservator.* 

- State Hospital
- Acute Psychiatric Hospital
- Psychiatric Unit of a General Acute Care Hospital
- Skilled Nursing Facility
- Special Treatment Program
- Licensed Group Home
- Adult Residential Facility
- Social Rehabilitation Facility
- Licensed Family Home
- Adult Day Care Facility
- Psychiatric Health Facility
- Mental Health Rehabilitation Center
- Community Treatment Facility
- 23-Hour Treatment Facility

You cannot be threatened or asked to give up any of your rights as a condition for admission or receiving treatment; however, you may choose not to exercise a specific right.

## Access to the Patients' Rights Advocate

You have the right to see a patient's rights advocate who has no clinical or administrative responsibility for your mental health treatment and to receive his or her services. Your advocate's name and telephone number are located on the back cover of this handbook.

You have the right to contact the patients' rights advocate at any time. The facility where you are staying will provide you with assistance to ensure that you can exercise this right. You have the right to communicate with and to receive visits privately from your patients' rights advocate or attorney.

## What to Do If You Have a Complaint

You have the right to complain about your living conditions, any physical or verbal abuse, any threats or acts of cruelty, or your treatment in the facility without being punished for voicing such complaints.

The patients' rights advocate is responsible for investigating and trying to resolve complaints concerning your rights. If the advocate is unable to help you with your concern, your complaint may be referred, with your permission, to another agency that can assist you.

If you are dissatisfied with the advocate's response to your complaint, you can request that the complaint be referred to the facility director or to the local mental health director.

## Rights While You Are Involuntarily Detained

The following information pertains to individuals who are involuntarily detained.

#### 72-Hour Hold or "5150"

When a person, as a result of a mental health disorder, is a danger to others, or to himself/herself, or gravely disabled, they may be taken into custody against their will for up to 72 hours for assessment and evaluation. When there is probable cause for involuntary detention, those who are authorized to take an individual into custody are:

- A peace officer
- A professional person in charge of a facility designated by the county for evaluation and treatment, or a member of the attending staff
- Designated members of a mobile crisis team
- A professional person designated by the county

While being detained, crisis intervention or placement for evaluation and treatment may be initiated.

The facility where you are being detained requires a written application stating why there is probable cause to believe that you, as a result of a mental health disorder, are a danger to yourself or others, or are gravely disabled. If the probable cause is based on the statement of a person other than a police officer, a member of the attending staff, or a professional person, this person is liable for his/her statement in a civil action.

If you were brought into a mental health facility against your will due to the circumstances described above, you may be held for up to 72 hours for treatment and evaluation unless the person in charge can establish that you need an additional 14 days of mental health treatment (Welfare and Institutions Code Sections 5150 and 5250).

## 14-Day Certification for Intensive Treatment or "5250"

If a person is detained for 72 hours under the provisions of *Section 5150* of the *Welfare and Institutions Code* (described on pages 8-9 in this booklet) and has received an evaluation, he or she may be certified for no more than 14 days of intensive treatment related to a mental health disorder or an impairment by chronic alcoholism under the following conditions:

- The professional staff of the facility that provides evaluation services has analyzed the person's condition and found that the person is a danger to himself/herself or others or is gravely disabled.
- The person has been advised of the need for treatment on a voluntary basis, but is not willing or able to accept treatment.

If you are held beyond 72 hours, you have the right to remain in the hospital for voluntary treatment. If you do not want to stay voluntarily, the facility where you are staying will conduct a certification review hearing within four days of the end of your 72-hour hold. You

may be represented at this hearing by a patients' rights advocate or another person of your choice. You can also request to have family members present to help explain your circumstances (*Welfare and Institutions Code Section 5250*). If you want someone to join the hearing via telephone, let your advocate or a facility staff member know in advance and they will arrange the call.



### **Helpful Hint**

If you request a writ of habeas corpus, a legal request asking a court determine whether you can be detained, you will give up your right to have a certification hearing. Talk to your advocate for more details about the writ process.

## Re-certification for Intensive Treatment or "5260"

If during the 14-day certification you attempted or threatened to take your own life and if you remain an imminent threat of taking your life, your doctor may place you on an additional 14-day hold, which is known as a re-certification. You have the right to request a writ of habeas corpus (see above). **Please note that no hearing will take place for this hold** (*Welfare and Institutions Code Section 5260*).

### Additional 30-Day Hold or "5270.15"

In some counties, after you have completed a 14-day period of treatment, you may be held for an additional 30 days if your doctor determines that you remain gravely disabled and you are unwilling to accept voluntary treatment. Another certification hearing will automatically be held. You have the right to have a patients' rights advocate assist you at the hearing. You also have the right to request a writ of habeas corpus at any time during this period and to have a patients' rights advocate or attorney assist you at the hearing (Welfare and Institutions Code Section 5270.15).

## Post Certification for Dangerousness or "5300 et. al."

If sufficient reason exists at the end of the 14-day certification to believe that you are a danger to others because of a mental health disorder, the person who is in charge of the facility may petition the court to require you to remain in the facility for further treatment. This treatment is not to exceed 180 days. You have the right to representation by an attorney and to a jury trial (Welfare and Institutions Code Section 5300 et. al.).

### **Temporary Conservatorship**

If the person in charge of the facility where you are staying believes that you may benefit from the services of a conservator because you remain gravely disabled, you may be placed on a temporary conservatorship (T-con) for up to 30 days. At the end of 30 days, a hearing will be held to determine whether you remain gravely disabled and whether a one-year conservatorship will be necessary. Your advocate or attorney can assist you with the conservatorship hearing process (Welfare and Institutions Code Section 5352.1).

## **Confidentiality**

Your record is confidential and can be released only to you or to people who are involved in providing you with medical or psychiatric services. A court order or provisions in the law may be an exception. Other specific people may be given access to your records whenever you, your guardian, or your conservator give express consent by signing a form that authorizes the release of information.

You must also be informed of your right to have or not have other persons notified if you are hospitalized.

### **Medical Treatment**

While you are staying in a facility, you have the right to prompt medical care and treatment.



## **Helpful Hints**

- If you don't feel well or are in pain, let your doctor or a treatment staff member know right away.
- If you have any question about your treatment, talk to your doctor or a treatment staff member or ask your advocate for help.

## **Right to Refuse Treatment**

### **Voluntary Patients**

You can refuse any type of medical or mental health treatment, including medications; unless the situation is an emergency (see the "Definitions" section of this handbook for *emergency treatment*).

#### **Involuntary Patients**

You have the right to refuse medical treatment or treatment with medications (except in an emergency) unless a capacity hearing is held and a hearing officer or a judge finds that you do not have the capacity to consent to or refuse treatment. The advocate or public defender can assist you with this matter.

#### Conservatees

If you are on conservatorship and the judge has granted your conservator power to make mental health treatment decisions, you no longer have the right to consent to or refuse treatment. You should talk with your advocate or attorney for more information. In some cases, a judge may allow a patient on conservatorship to retain the right to consent to or refuse medical treatment.

#### **All Patients**

You have the right to refuse to take part in any research project or medical experiment. You also have the right to refuse electroconvulsive treatment (ECT) or any form of convulsive therapy. However, if a court has determined that you lack the capacity to make this decision, then ECT may be given *without* your consent. An advocate or a public defender can assist you with the hearing process (*Welfare and Institutions Code Section* 5326.7).

## Medications and the Informed Consent Process

### **Voluntary Patients**

If you are a voluntary adult patient, you have the right to consent to or refuse taking antipsychotic medications (except in an emergency). You may be treated with antipsychotic medications only after the hospital has completed the *informed consent* process, which is defined on the following page.

## **Involuntary Patients**

If you are being detained against your will, you have the right to refuse treatment with antipsychotic medications unless the situation is an emergency or a hearing officer or a judge has determined that you are incapable of making this decision.



## **Helpful Hint**

If your medication interferes with your ability to participate in daily activities or has other unpleasant side effects, let your doctor know.

#### **The Informed Consent Process**

Before you give your consent to take any antipsychotic medication, your doctor must first explain to you the following:

- 1. The reasons for your taking this medication and the benefits that you can expect
- 2. Your right to withdraw your consent at any time
- 3. The type and the amount of medication and how often you must take it
- 4. The common side effects from taking the medication, the effects that you are most likely to experience, and how long the doctor expects you will need to take the medication
- 5. Alternative treatments that are available (if any)
- 6. The potential long-term side effects of taking the medication



## **Helpful Hint**

If you are asked to consent to taking medications without being given a full explanation, talk to your advocate.

## **Capacity Hearing for Medications**

A capacity hearing, which is also called a Riese hearing, may be held to determine whether you can refuse treatment with medications. The capacity hearing is conducted by a hearing officer at the facility where you are receiving treatment or by a judge in court. The hearing officer will determine whether you have the capacity to consent to or refuse medication as a form of treatment.

You have the right to be represented at the capacity hearing by an advocate or by an attorney. Your representative will help you prepare for the hearing and will answer questions or discuss concerns that you may have about the hearing process.

If you disagree with the capacity hearing decision, you may appeal the decision to a superior court or to a court of appeal. Your patients' rights advocate or attorney can assist you with filing an appeal.



## **Helpful Hint**

If you have any questions about your right to consent to or refuse medications or about the capacity hearing process, talk to your patients' rights advocate or the public defender.

## **Rights That Cannot Be Denied**

Persons with mental illness have the same legal rights and responsibilities that are guaranteed all other persons by the federal and state constitution and laws unless specifically limited by federal or state laws and regulations (*Welfare and Institutions Code Section* 5325.1).

## The Right to Humane Care

You have the right to dignity, privacy, and humane care. You also have the right to treatment services that promote your potential to function independently. Treatment must be provided in ways that are least restrictive to you.

## **Helpful Hints**

 If you feel that your treatment is too restrictive, talk to your doctor and find out how your treatment can be changed, talk to the patients' rights advocate, or file a complaint.

## The Right to Be Free from Abuse or Neglect

You have the right to be free from abuse, neglect, or harm, including unnecessary or excessive physical restraint, isolation, or medication. Medication shall not be used as punishment, for the convenience of staff, as a substitute for treatment, or in quantities that interfere with the treatment program. You also have the right to be free from potentially harmful situations or conditions.



## **Helpful Hint**

If you believe that you have suffered abuse or neglect in the facility or feel that your treatment is more restrictive than necessary, talk to your advocate or let a staff member know.

## The Right to Social Activities and Recreation

You have the right to social interaction and participation in activities within the community or within the facility if you are hospitalized.

You have the right to physical exercise and recreational opportunities.

### The Right to Education

You have the right to participate in appropriate programs of publicly supported education.

## The Right to Religious Freedom and Practice

You have the right to religious freedom and practice.

## **Helpful Hint**

Your right to practice your religion cannot be denied by anyone. You may not be pressured in any way to participate in religious practices, and you do not have to accept a visit from representatives of any religion. After you are admitted to a facility, let the staff know as soon as possible whether you have any special religious preferences.

## The Right to Be Free from Discrimination

You have the right to receive mental health services without discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, ancestry, age, marital status, physical or mental disability, medical condition, or sexual orientation.



## **Helpful Hint**

Talk with a staff member or your advocate if you have any concerns about discrimination.

## Rights That May Be Denied with Good Cause

Unless the facility's staff and the doctor have good cause to do so, you cannot be denied any of the following rights:

## Clothing

You have the right to wear your own clothes (except as prohibited by law in some state hospitals).

### **Money**

You have the right to possess and spend a reasonable sum of your own money or personal funds for canteen expenses and small purchases.

#### **Visitors**

You have the right to see visitors each day, according to the facility's visitation policy.



## **Helpful Hint**

Please check with the facility where you are staying for more details on visiting times and policies.

### **Storage Space**

You have the right to have access to storage space for your personal belongings.

#### **Personal Possessions**

You have the right to keep and use your own personal possessions, including your own toilet articles.

## **Telephone**

You have the right to reasonable access to a telephone to make and receive confidential calls or to have such calls made for you.



## **Helpful Hint**

If telephones are not placed where you can make private phone calls, ask a facility staff member where you can have privacy when making your call.

## Mail

You have the right to receive mail and unopened correspondence.

## **Writing Materials**

You have the right to have letter-writing materials, including stamps, made available to you.

## **Good Cause**

Good cause for denying any of the rights means that the professional person in charge has a good reason to believe that allowing a specific right would cause:

- 1. Injury to that person or others; or
- 2. A serious infringement on the rights of others; or
- 3. Serious damage to the facility;

**and** there is no less restrictive way to protect against these occurrences.

Your rights cannot be denied as a condition of admission, a privilege to be earned, a punishment, a convenience to staff, or a part of a treatment program. A denial of a right can be made only by the person authorized by law or regulation to do so, and this denial must be noted in your treatment record. If one of your rights is going to be denied, a staff member must inform you. Any denial of a right must be reviewed on a regular and ongoing basis. Once good cause no longer exists, your right(s) must be restored.



### **Helpful Hint**

If you feel that you have had a right unfairly denied or you would like a right restored, you can talk to your advocate or a staff member or file a complaint.

## **Definitions**

**Advocate:** The person mandated by state law to ensure that mental health patients maintain their statutory and constitutional rights.

**Antipsychotic Medication:** Any medication that is customarily prescribed for the treatment of mental health disorders, emotional disorders, or both.

Capacity: A determination of whether a person is:

- Aware of his or her situation;
- Able to understand the risks, benefits, and alternatives to the proposed treatment; and,
- Able to understand and knowingly and intelligently evaluate information that concerns giving consent, and to otherwise use rational thought processes to participate in treatment decisions.

Conservator. A person who is appointed by a court to take care of a patient, his or her property, or both when the patient is considered to be gravely disabled as a result of a mental health disorder or an impairment by chronic alcoholism. A conservator may be a public agency representative or a private person. A conservator may make decisions about a patient's treatment, placement, and finances.

**Emergency Treatment:** Action to impose treatment, despite a person's objection, that is immediately necessary for the preservation of life or the prevention of serious bodily harm to the patient or to others, and it is impractical to first gain consent from the patient.

**Gravely Disabled:** A person who is unable, by reason of a mental health disorder, to provide for his or her own food, clothing, or shelter. A person is not gravely disabled if someone else is willing and able to provide these basic necessities.

**Hearing Officer:** A superior court judge, a courtappointed commissioner or referee, or a court-appointed hearing officer who makes decisions in mental health certification review and capacity hearings.

**Imminent:** About to happen or ready to take place.

**Informed Consent:** A process by which a patient is informed of any antipsychotic medications that have been prescribed to him or her and the patient's consent is obtained. The informed consent form states that the patient was informed about the prescribed medication(s), including the type of medication, the quantity, the benefits or side effects of the medication, and other forms of treatment that are available. The mental health facility is required to keep the signed consent form in the patient's record.

**Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus:** A legal request for release from a facility or an institution that a patient can file himself/herself or with the help of an attorney, an advocate, or a facility staff member. If accepted, the writ will entitle a patient to a hearing in a superior court.

**Probable Cause:** The evidence that justifies issuing a 14-day certification. The mental health facility must establish specific facts that would reasonably lead someone to believe that a person is dangerous to himself/herself or others, or is gravely disabled.

## County Patients' Rights Advocate Contact Information

## If you are unable to reach your patients' rights advocate, contact:

California Office of Patients' Rights 1831 K Street Sacramento, California 95811-4114 Telephone: (916) 504-5810 http://www.disabilityrightsca.org/

Or

Department of Health Care Services Office of the Ombudsman Telephone: (888) 452-8609 Email:

MMCDOmbudsmanOffice@dhcs.ca.gov

Revised July 2018

Cover art: "Sunset on Lake," Iesha, age 14